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The Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 

(“SIFMA”) hereby moves this Court for leave to file the attached proposed brief 

amicus curiae, for the limited purpose of addressing the issue of the application of 

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and Section 10(b) 

(the “Exchange Act”) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to certain interest 

rate swap transactions alleged in the Complaint.  This issue is the subject of a 

motion to dismiss the Complaint, filed in this action by defendants William B. 

Blount and Blount Parrish & Co., Inc. dated June 27, 2008 (Doc. 12).  SIFMA does 

not address any other issue that is the subject of defendants’ motion to dismiss, 

and, in particular, does not challenge the Court’s jurisdiction with respect to 

alleged violations of the federal securities laws in connection with certain bonds 

issued by Jefferson County, Alabama.  SIFMA does not take a position with 

respect to the merits of the allegations in the Complaint or defendants’ defenses 

thereto.  SIFMA’s submission should not be construed as supporting any defense 

or argument advanced by the defendants as to the merits of the Complaint, but only 

as SIFMA’s position with respect to the limited issue of the application of Section 

17(a) and Section 10(b) to the swap transactions that are alleged in the Complaint.1

 
 

1 On or about June 19, 2008, counsel for SIFMA contacted counsel of record for the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and advised the SEC that SIFMA intended to seek 
permission to file a brief amicus curiae.  Subsequently, on July 1 and July 7, 2008, counsel for 
SIFMA contacted the Court’s chambers to advise the Court that SIFMA intended to seek 
permission to file a brief amicus curiae.  The Court’s law clerk indicated to SIFMA’s counsel 
that, after the Court entered an order establishing a briefing schedule with respect to the 
defendants’ pending motion to dismiss, SIFMA could file its motion for leave to file a brief 
amicus curiae prior to the completion of the parties’ briefing on the pending motion to dismiss.  
Prior to the Court’s entry of its scheduling order, the SEC filed its opposition brief on July 14, 
2008, prior to the time it was due.  Later that same day, the Court entered its July 14, 2008 
scheduling order, which provided that the SEC had until August 7, 2008 to file its brief, which 
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It is undisputed that swap agreements are not “securities” for purposes 

of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and that claims based on Section 17(a) 

and Section 10(b) can be brought with respect to swap agreements only where 

fraud is alleged to have occurred with respect to “security-based swap 

agreements.”  The Complaint asserts that the defendants’ alleged conduct falls 

within the proscriptions of Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) in respect of the interest 

rate swap agreements at issue because the swap agreements in this case are 

purportedly “security-based swap agreements.”  According to the Complaint, 

payments made under the swap agreements at issue were based on the SIFMA 

Municipal Swap Index (the “SIFMA Swap Index”).  The Complaint then alleges 

that the SIFMA Swap Index is an “index of securities,” and that a material term of 

the swap agreements was based on the value of the SIFMA Swap Index. 

As explained in SIFMA’s proposed brief amicus curiae, the SIFMA 

Swap Index, however, is an index of interest rates, not an index of securities.  

Moreover, swap agreements under which payments are based on the SIFMA Swap 

Index are not based on “the price, yield, value or volatility of any security or any 

group or index of securities.”  As explained in SIFMA’s proposed amicus brief, for 

each of these reasons, swap agreements under which payments are based on the 

SIFMA Swap Index, such as the swap agreements at issue in this action, are not 

“security-based swap agreements.”  Accordingly, the swap agreements here are not 

 

the SEC had already filed.  The Court subsequently entered an additional scheduling order dated 
July 17, 2008, which modified the briefing schedule for the pending motions to dismiss and 
provides that the deadline for the defendants to file their reply briefs is August 18, 2008. 
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subject to Sections 17(a) and 10(b), and, thus, there is no basis for the claims 

asserted in the Complaint with respect to the swap transactions. 

SIFMA is an industry trade group representing more than 650 

securities firms, banks, and asset management companies in the United States, 

Europe and Asia.  As noted, the claims against the defendants with respect to the 

swap agreements are based on certain assumptions concerning the SIFMA Swap 

Index, which assumptions, respectfully, are not accurate.  As the entity that created 

and maintains the SIFMA Swap Index, SIFMA has a critical interest in ensuring 

that the purpose, structure and application of the SIFMA Swap Index is accurately 

presented to the Court.  Moreover, SIFMA has an interest in ensuring that the 

nature of the SIFMA Swap Index is not characterized in a manner that would 

support an inappropriate expansion of Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) over swap 

agreements based on indices of interest rates, when such jurisdiction clearly was 

not intended under the CFMA. 

The issue of the nature of the SIFMA Swap Index is relevant to one 

aspect of the current motion to dismiss and both parties have attempted to 

characterize the Index in their briefs.  SIFMA believes that it would be helpful to 

the Court for SIFMA to clarify the nature of the Index.  In that regard, the SEC 

cited to SIFMA’s website in its opposition brief, advocating that SIFMA’s 

explanation of the Index was authoritative.  SEC Opp. Brief at 47-48. 

In light of the above circumstances, SIFMA respectfully submits that 

it would be appropriate and helpful to the Court for SIFMA’s motion for leave to 

file its brief amicus curiae to be granted.  It is widely held that a trial court has 

broad discretion over the decision whether to allow a non-party to participate as an 
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amicus curiae.  E.g., DeJulio v. State of Georgia, 127 F. Supp. 2d 1274, 1284 

(N.D. Ga.) (“The decision whether to allow a non-party to participate as an amicus 

curiae is solely within the broad discretion of the Court.”), aff’d in part, rev’d in 

part on other grounds, 276 F. 3d 1244 (11th Cir. 2001).  “District courts frequently 

welcome amicus briefs from non-parties concerning legal issues that have potential 

ramifications beyond the parties directly involved or if the amicus has ‘unique 

information or perspective that can help the court beyond the help that the lawyers 

for the parties are able to provide.’”  NGV Gaming, Ltd. v. Upstream Point Molate, 

LLC, 355 F. Supp. 2d 1061, 1067 (N.D. Cal. 2005).  In light of the relevance of 

SIFMA’s Index to the claims asserted in the Complaint with respect to the swap 

transactions, and the information and unique perspective that SIFMA has 

concerning its own Index, these standards are easily met in this case.  Moreover, as 

noted below, all parties to this action have consented to SIFMA filing a brief 

amicus curiae. 

Compliance With Section IV.B of Uniform Initial Order 

Counsel hereby certifies that prior to filing this motion, counsel to the 

proposed amicus curiae contacted counsel for each of the defendants and the SEC 

to inquire whether the parties would consent to the relief sought in this motion.  

Counsel to the defendants consent to SIFMA’s motion.  The SEC also consents to 

SIFMA’s motion.  The SEC also requested that SIFMA note that the SEC had not 

received a copy of SIFMA’s brief amicus curiae prior to its filing, and anticipates 

that it may respond to SIFMA’s brief amicus curiae.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, SIFMA respectfully requests that the Court 

grant this motion for leave to file the attached brief amicus curiae. 

Dated: Birmingham, Alabama 
August 7, 2008 

/s/ Crawford S. McGivaren, Jr.   
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The Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 

(“SIFMA”) respectfully submits this brief as amicus curiae, for the limited purpose 

of addressing the issue of the application of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 

1933 and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to certain interest 

rate swap transactions alleged in the Complaint.  This issue is the subject of a 

motion to dismiss the Complaint, filed in this action by defendants William B. 

Blount and Blount Parrish & Co., Inc. dated June 27, 2008 (Doc. 12).  SIFMA does 

not address any other issue that is the subject of defendants’ motion to dismiss, 

and, in particular, does not challenge the Court’s jurisdiction with respect to 

alleged violations of the federal securities laws in connection with certain bonds 

issued by Jefferson County, Alabama.  SIFMA does not take a position with 

respect to the merits of the allegations in the Complaint or defendants’ defenses 

thereto.  SIFMA’s submission should not be construed as supporting any defense 

or argument advanced by the defendants as to the merits of the Complaint, but only 

as SIFMA’s position with respect to the limited issue of the application of Section 

17(a) and Section 10(b) to the swap transactions that are alleged in the Complaint. 

STATEMENT OF INTEREST AND PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

In this action, plaintiff the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 

“SEC”) alleges that Larry Langford, the mayor of Birmingham, Alabama, accepted 

undisclosed payments and benefits from defendant William B. Blount, chairman of 

a broker-dealer, defendant Blount Parrish & Co., Inc. (together, “Blount Parrish”), 

in connection with the offer, purchase and sale of approximately $2.9 billion of 

Jefferson County, Alabama municipal bonds.  The Complaint also alleges that 
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Langford accepted undisclosed payments and benefits from Blount Parrish with 

respect to four interest rate swap transactions that the County entered into with two 

financial institutions. 

The Complaint alleges that the defendants violated Section 17(a) of 

the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) and Section 10(b) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) (including Rule 10b-5 

promulgated by the SEC thereunder) with respect to the four swap transactions.  In 

general, in order to assert claims under those provisions, the Complaint must allege 

that a defendant made a material misrepresentation or omission in the offer and 

sale of a security or in connection with the purchase or sale of a security.  In the 

Commodity Futures Modernization Act of 2000 (the “CFMA”), Congress made 

clear that “swap agreements” (as defined in the CFMA) are not securities for 

purposes of these statutes and that the SEC is prohibited from registering, or 

requiring the registration of, swap agreements, or imposing reporting or 

recordkeeping requirements or other procedures or standards as preventative 

measures against fraud, manipulation or insider trading with respect to swap 

agreements.   

The CFMA did provide, however, that certain swap agreements -- 

“security-based swap agreements” -- are subject to the anti-fraud, anti-

manipulation and insider trading provisions of Section 17(a) and Section 10(b).  In 

that regard, the CFMA defines a “security-based swap agreement” as an agreement 

“of which a material term is based on the price, yield, value or volatility of any 

security or any group or index of securities, or any interest therein.” 
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The Complaint asserts that the defendants’ alleged conduct falls 

within the proscriptions of Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) in respect of the interest 

rate swap agreements at issue because the swap agreements in this case are 

purportedly “security-based swap agreements.”  According to the Complaint, 

payments made under the swap agreements at issue were based on the SIFMA 

Municipal Swap Index (the “SIFMA Swap Index”).  The Complaint then alleges 

that the SIFMA Swap Index is an “index of securities,” and that a material term of 

the swap agreements was based on the value of the SIFMA Swap Index.   

The SIFMA Swap Index, however, is an index of interest rates, not an 

index of securities.  Moreover, swap agreements under which payments are based 

on the SIFMA Swap Index are not based on “the price, yield, value or volatility of 

any security or any group or index of securities.”  For each of these reasons, swap 

agreements under which payments are based on the SIFMA Swap Index, such as 

the swap agreements at issue in this action, are not “security-based swap 

agreements.”  Accordingly, the swap agreements here are not subject to Sections 

17(a) and 10(b), and, thus, there is no basis for the claims asserted in the 

Complaint with respect to the swap transactions.  See Point II, infra. 

The Complaint also asserts an alternative basis for its claims with 

respect to two of the four swap agreements at issue.  Specifically, the Complaint 

asserts that even if the swap agreements are not security-based swap agreements, 

the SEC may still assert claims under Sections 17(a) and 10(b) with respect to 

these two swap agreements simply because they were entered into “simultaneously 

with” the bond offerings.  As explained below, however, the Complaint’s 

alternative theory is inconsistent with the plain text and purpose of the CFMA, 
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which carefully limited the antifraud provisions of the securities statutes only to 

swap agreements that are “security-based swap agreements.”  See Point III, infra. 

SIFMA is an industry trade group representing more than 650 

securities firms, banks, and asset management companies in the United States, 

Europe and Asia.1  As noted, the claims against the defendants with respect to the 

swap agreements are based on certain assumptions concerning the SIFMA Swap 

Index, which assumptions, respectfully, are not accurate.  As the entity that created 

and maintains the SIFMA Swap Index, SIFMA has a critical interest in ensuring 

that the purpose, structure and application of the SIFMA Swap Index are 

accurately presented to the Court.  Moreover, SIFMA has an interest in ensuring 

that the nature of the SIFMA Swap Index is not characterized in a manner that 

would support an inappropriate expansion of Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) over 

swap agreements based on indices of interest rates, when such jurisdiction clearly 

was not intended under the CFMA. 

Significantly, the issue of the nature of the SIFMA Swap Index is 

relevant to one aspect of the current motion to dismiss and both parties have 

attempted to characterize the Index in their briefs.  SIFMA believes that it would 

be helpful to the Court for SIFMA to clarify the nature of the Index.  In that regard, 

the SEC cited to SIFMA’s website in its opposition brief, advocating that SIFMA’s 

explanation of the Index was authoritative.  SEC Opp. Brief at 47-48.2

 
 

1 SIFMA, About SIFMA, http://www.sifma.org/about/about.html (last visited July 30, 2008). 
(Ex. A hereto). 
2 According to the SEC: 

A better place than the ISDA website for the Court to look for 
evidence of what that Municipal Swap Index really is would be 
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SIFMA stresses, again, that it does not challenge the SEC’s claims 

with respect to the alleged fraudulent conduct that took place in connection with 

the purchase and sale of the Jefferson County municipal bonds (which are 

securities for purposes of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act), as alleged in 

Paragraph 14 of the Complaint.3  Because the defendants’ alleged wrongdoing in 

this action may legitimately fall within the scope of Section 17(a) and Section 

10(b) based upon allegations of fraudulent conduct in connection with the bond 

offerings, the Court should not accept the Complaint’s additional and expansive 

attempt to assert claims with respect to the swap agreements. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The Complaint 

The Complaint alleges that Langford, the mayor of Birmingham, 

Alabama, accepted undisclosed payments and benefits from Blount Parrish in 

connection with the offer, purchase and sale of approximately $2.9 billion of 

Jefferson County, Alabama municipal bonds.  Doc. 1, ¶ 1.  The five bond offerings 

that are the subject of the Complaint are (1) a $94 million capital improvement 

bond offering that closed on March 1, 2003 (the “2003-A bonds”); (2) a 

$1.1 billion sewer bond offering that closed on May 1, 2003 (the “2003-B bonds”); 

(3) a $1.05 billion sewer bond offering that closed on August 7, 2003 (the 

 
statements from the organization that created and maintains it – the 
Bond Market Association, now known as the Securities Industry 
and Financial Markets Association (“SIFMA”). 

SEC Opp. Brief at 47-48. 
3 Nor does SIFMA address any other aspects of defendants’ motion pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 
12(b)(1) and (6). 
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“2003-C bonds”); (4) a $51 million general obligation bond offering that closed on 

August 1, 2004 (the “2004-A bonds”); and (5) a $650 million limited obligation 

school bond offering that closed on December 20, 2004.  Doc. 1, ¶ 11. 

The Complaint also alleges that Langford accepted undisclosed 

payments and benefits from Blount Parrish with respect to four interest rate swap 

transactions that the County entered into with two financial institutions.  The 

interest rate swap transactions that are described in the Complaint are:  (1) a 

$1.1 million swap transaction with JP Morgan Chase Bank (“JP Morgan”), which 

the SEC alleges was executed in connection with the 2003-B bonds; (2) a 

$789 million swap transaction with JP Morgan, which the Complaint alleges was 

executed in connection with the 2003-C bonds; (3) a $111 million swap agreement 

with JP Morgan with an effective date of May 1, 2004; and (4) a swap transaction 

with Bear, Stearns & Co. (“Bear Stearns”) with an effective date of June 24, 2004.  

Doc. 1, at ¶ 12.  These four swap transactions are referred to collectively herein as 

the “County Swap Agreements.”  SIFMA takes no position on the merits of the 

allegations of wrongdoing in the Complaint or the defendants’ defenses thereto. 

B. The SIFMA Municipal Swap Index 

As the Complaint alleges, the County Swap Agreements in this action 

are commonly known as interest rate swap agreements.4  An interest rate swap 

 
 

4  The general nature of interest rate swap agreements – which is not in dispute – is reflected in 
case law, as well as in definitions of swap agreements of which the Court may take judicial 
notice.  See, e.g., St. Matthews Baptist Church v. Wachovia Bank, No. Civ. A. 04-4540 (FLW), 
2005 WL 1199045, at *1 (D.N.J. May 18, 2005) (describing a typical interest rate swap 
agreement); see also International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA”), Product 
Descriptions and Frequently Asked Questions, http://www.isda.org/educat/faqs.html#9 (last 
visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. B hereto at 2).  As discussed below, the Court may also take judicial 
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agreement is a contractual arrangement that enables parties to, among other things, 

protect themselves against the risk of fluctuating interest rates.  See K3C Inc. v. 

Bank of America, N.A., 204 Fed. Appx. 455, 458 (5th Cir. 2006) (describing an 

interest rate swap as “a transaction by which a borrower can hedge against the risk 

of interest rate fluctuations”).  The parties to such transactions agree to exchange 

interest payments on specific dates based on a defined principal amount for a fixed 

period of time and according to a predetermined formula.  The principal amount, 

which is not exchanged, is referred to as the “notional” amount.5  In a typical 

interest rate swap agreement, a series of payments, which are calculated by 

applying a fixed rate of interest to the notional amount, are exchanged for a series 

of payments, which are calculated on the basis of a specified floating rate of 

interest.6  To establish the floating interest rate for a swap contract, the contract 

typically references an interest rate benchmark, such as LIBOR or the SIFMA 

Swap Index. 

 
notice of the other information set forth herein, which is not subject to reasonable dispute, in that 
it is capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be 
reasonably questioned.  See Point I, infra. 
5 ISDA, Product Descriptions and Frequently Asked Questions, 
http://www.isda.org/educat/faqs.html#10 (last visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. B hereto at 2).  The 
notional amount is simply the basis for calculating interest payments – a “notional” concept. 
6 Technically, the two interest rates are compared and the net amount due to one party or the 
other is paid.  Swap agreements are also commonly used to exchange payments based upon two 
different floating rates, such as the SIFMA Swap Index versus LIBOR.  See, e.g., Brian O’Keefe, 
Hedging Considerations in CDO Transactions, Financial Services Industry, 
http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_m0MTK/is_1-4_5/ai_n25060165 (last visited July 30, 2008) 
(“Similarly, it may be necessary to employ a basis-risk swap where the collateral consists of 
floating-rate assets linked to one index, while the liabilities pay interest based on another.”) (Ex. 
C hereto at 1). 
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SIFMA’s7 mission is to promote policies and practices that work to 

expand and perfect markets, foster the development of new products and services 

and create efficiencies for member firms, while preserving and enhancing the 

public’s trust and confidence in the markets and the industry.8  In that regard, 

SIFMA created the SIFMA Swap Index9 in 1991 to serve as a benchmark floating 

interest rate for use in interest rate swap transactions.10  The SIFMA Swap Index 

was designed to provide a consistent, superior means of tracking interest rate 

movements, as they occur, in the tax-exempt market.11   It is well understood in the 

marketplace not only that the SIFMA Swap Index is an index of interest rates, but 

that it is the tax-exempt market equivalent of LIBOR, which is an index of the 

interest rates that banks expect to receive for loaning money to other banks for 

varying time periods.12  
 
 

7 SIFMA (formerly known as the Bond Market Association) was formed on November 1, 2006, 
through the merger of the Bond Market Association and the Securities Industry Association.  See 
Investment News, SIA & BMA Merge into SIFMA, (November 1, 2006), 
http://www.investmentnews.com/apps/pbcs.dll/article?AID=/20061101/REG/611010715/-
1/BreakingNews04  (Ex. D hereto). 
8 SIFMA, About SIFMA, http://www.sifma.org/about/about.html (last visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. 
A hereto). 
9 The SIFMA Municipal Swap Index was originally known as the Bond Market Association 
Municipal Swap Index. See, SIFMA, Answering Your Questions About The Securities Industry 
and Financial Markets Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Index, 
http://www.sifma.org/capital_markets/swapindex.shtml (last visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. E hereto 
at 1). 
10 Id. (“The Index serves as a benchmark floating rate . . . .”) (Ex. E hereto at 1). 
11  Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association Municipal Swap Index, 
https://www.tm3.com/refer/usermanual/docs/BMA.pdf (last visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. F hereto 
at 3). 
12  See, e.g., FinCAD, Tax Exempt (Municipal) Swap Curve, 
http://www.fincad.com/support/developerFunc/mathref/BMASwapCrv.htm (last visited July 30, 
2008) (“[The SIFMA Swap Index] is produced weekly, reflecting the average rate of issues of 
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The SIFMA Swap Index is calculated on a weekly basis by Municipal 

Market Data (“MMD”) on behalf of SIFMA, and is determined by calculating “the 

standard deviation of the rates” collected on approximately 650 tax exempt 

variable rate demand notes.13  Under the terms of each issue of variable rate 

demand notes, the interest rate is reset each week to reflect then-current market 

conditions as determined by a broker-dealer acting as remarketing agent for the 

issuer.14  The interest rates reported to MMD for inclusion in the SIFMA Swap 

Index are collected only from variable rate demand notes meeting certain eligibility 

criteria.  For example, the interest rates on the underlying notes must be reset each 

Wednesday, the notes must pay interest on a monthly basis, and the notes must 

have the highest short-term ratings from the rating agencies Moody’s Investors 

Services or Standard & Poor’s.  Significantly, in calculating the SIFMA Swap 

Index, MMD (a) eliminates variable rate demand notes whose interest rates fall 

outside of +/- 1.0 standard deviations and (b) limits notes handled by a single 

 
tax exempt variable rate debt, and serves as a benchmark floating rate in municipal swap 
transactions. The BMA [SIFMA Swap] index is usually 65%-70% of its taxable equivalent 1-
month LIBOR.”) (Ex. G hereto at 1); Stan Provus, Basis Risk with Interest Rate Swaps, Council 
of Development Finance Agencies, http://www.cdfa.net/cdfa/cdfaweb.nsf/pages/feb2005tlc.html 
(last visited July 30, 2008) (describing the SIFMA Swap index as “the market benchmark for 
short-term, tax-exempt rates.”) (Ex. H hereto at 1). 
13 SIFMA, Answering Your Questions About The Securities Industry and Financial Markets 
Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Index, 
http://www.sifma.org/capital_markets/swapindex.shtml (last visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. E hereto 
at 2). 
14 See, e.g., Tom Crescenzi, Get to Know VRDOs, The Street (February 13, 2008), available at 
http://www.thestreet.com/story/10403338/2/get-to-know-vrdos.html (Ex. I hereto at 1); 
Municipal Securities Rule Making Board, Request for Comment Plan for Increasing Information 
Available for Variable Rate Demand Obligations (May 23, 2008), available at  
http://www.msrb.org/msrb1/whatsnew/2008-24.asp (Ex. J hereto at 1). 
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remarketing agent to no more than 15% of the SIFMA Swap Index.15  To provide 

the data necessary to calculate the SIFMA Swap Index, “over 80 remarketing 

agents (representing 90% of the market) download daily rate change information 

for their issues” to a database controlled by MMD.16  MMD’s database contains 

current and historical rates regarding more than 15,000 variable rate demand 

obligations.17

SIFMA publishes the Index solely to represent a composite market 

interest rate for tax-exempt instruments.  Other terms of the variable rate demand 

notes that are used to calculate the SIFMA Swap Index -- such as their prices, 

yields, maturities, or prepayment terms -- are not reported as part of the SIFMA 

Swap Index.  Moreover, the specific identities of the securities from which the 

interest rate information is collected by MMD, and the securities that are 

eliminated from the calculation of the SIFMA Swap Index due to the criteria 

“filters,” change from week to week and are known only to MMD.18

 
 

15 SIFMA, Answering Your Questions About The Securities Industry and Financial Markets 
Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Index 
http://www.sifma.org/capital_markets/swapindex.shtml (last visited July 30, 2008) (Ex. E hereto 
at 2). 
16 Id.  
17 Id.   
18 See id.
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE COURT MAY TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE 
INFORMATION REGARDING THE NATURE OF THE SIFMA 
SWAP INDEX AND OTHER INFORMATION THAT IS CAPABLE 
OF READY DETERMINATION BY SOURCES WHOSE 
ACCURACY CANNOT BE REASONABLY QUESTIONED   

The Court may take judicial notice of information outside of a 

complaint that is “not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is . . . capable of 

accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be 

reasonably questioned.”  Fed. R. Evid. 201(b).  In deciding motions to dismiss, 

courts routinely take judicial notice of publicly-available information contained in 

publications and websites that is not subject to reasonable dispute and is capable of 

ready determination.  E.g.,  Termarsch v. Argent Mortgage Company, LLC, No. 

8:07-CV-1725-T-30TBM, 2008 WL 1776592, at *4 n.4 (M.D. Fla. April 16, 2008) 

(taking judicial notice from Wells Fargo Bank’s website that the bank did not have 

offices in a particular state); Doron Precision Sys., Inc. v. FAAC, Inc., 423 F. 

Supp. 2d 173, 179 n. 8 (S.D.N.Y.  2006) (“For purposes of a 12(b)(6) motion to 

dismiss, a court may take judicial notice of information publicly announced on a 

party’s website, as long as the website’s authenticity is not in dispute ‘and it is 

capable of accurate and ready determination.’”); St. Matthews Baptist Church v. 

Wachovia Bank, No. Civ. A. 04-4540 (FLW), 2005 WL 1199045, at *1 (D. N.J. 

May 18, 2005) (taking judicial notice of information from website of a bankers 

association showing that the London Interbank Offered Rate (i.e., “LIBOR”) is an 

index of rates); In re Merck & Co., Sec. Litig., 432 F.3d 261, 264 n.3 (3d Cir. 

2005) (“We can take judicial notice of Merck’s stock prices even on a motion to 
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dismiss because these facts are ‘not subject to reasonable dispute [and are] capable 

of accurate and ready determination by resort to a source whose accuracy cannot 

be reasonably questioned.’”). 

Information contained on SIFMA’s website with respect to itself and 

the SIFMA Swap Index, as well as information contained on other websites that 

are hosted by prominent and reliable entities (such as ISDA) whose accuracy 

cannot be reasonably questioned, are subject to the Court’s judicial notice.  Indeed, 

the SEC appropriately cites to the SIFMA website in its opposition brief as 

authoritative support of which the Court may take judicial notice.  SEC Opp. Brief 

at 47-48.  To avoid any concern as to the accuracy of the sources cited by SIFMA, 

true copies of these sources are attached hereto for the convenience of the Court 

and the parties. 

SIFMA further notes that the issue of whether the County Swap 

Agreements are security-based swap agreements not only implicates the Court’s 

subject matter jurisdiction for purposes of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) (SEC Br. at 38-

39), but also whether the Complaint states a cause of action in respect of the claims 

based on the County Swap Agreements for purposes of Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  

The SEC acknowledges in its opposition brief that if its claims concerning the 

County Swap Agreements are without merit, the Court may address the 

jurisdictional issue on a motion to dismiss.  SEC Opp. Brief at 44-46.  For the 

reasons set forth in Sections II and III below, the Complaint does not state a claim 

for relief with respect to the County Swap Agreements, and, therefore, dismissal of 

those claims is appropriate pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  There is no 

question that the Court may consider information that is properly the subject of 
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judicial notice as part of a motion pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  E.g., St. 

Matthews, 2005 WL 1199045, at *1 (taking judicial notice that LIBOR is an index 

of rates, and granting 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss because plaintiff could not state a 

claim under Section 10(b) over non-security based swap agreement).19

Even on a facial challenge to a complaint for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), the Court may consider information 

which is the proper subject of judicial notice.  OJO v. Farmers Group, Inc., No. CV 

05-5818-JFW, 2006 WL 4552707, at *3 n.21 (C.D. Cal. Mar. 7, 2006) (holding 

that a court may take judicial notice of information in a facial challenge to subject 

matter jurisdiction); Acierno v. Haggerty, No. Civ. A. 04-1376-KAJ, 2005 WL 

3134060, at *5 (D. Del. Nov. 23, 2005) (same); see also Fed. R. Evid. 201(f) 

(“Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.”).  When a court 

takes judicial notice of information, this “does not transform [a] facial challenge to 

subject matter jurisdiction into a factual one.”  OJO, 2006 WL 4552707, at *3 

n.21; see also, e.g., Acierno, 2005 WL 3134060, at *5 n.6 (“[Plaintiff] correctly 

cites the law stating that different materials can be considered in a facial and 

factual attack on subject matter jurisdiction under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

12(b)(1).  However, because I determine here that the materials submitted by the 

Individual Defendants fall within the categories of information of which I may take 
 
 

19 The Eleventh Circuit has stressed that, in appropriate cases, courts may still grant motions to 
dismiss even where the issue of subject matter jurisdiction overlaps with the merits of plaintiff’s 
claim.  E.g., Morrison v. Amway Corp., 323 F.3d 920, 930 (11th Cir. 2003) (emphasizing that a 
motion to dismiss that implicates subject matter jurisdiction and the merits may still be granted 
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) if the plaintiff fails to properly state a claim); see also Lawrence v. 
Dunbar, 919 F.2d 1525, 1531 n.7 (11th Cir. 1990) (“Our holding in this case does not mean that 
a district court can never dismiss a federal claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction whenever 
a decision on subject matter jurisdiction also implicates the substantive merits of the claim.”).  
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judicial notice, that distinction is irrelevant here.”); see also Fed. R. Evid. 201(f) 

(“Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.”).  Accordingly, the 

facts regarding the nature of the SIFMA Swap Index of which the Court can take 

judicial notice may properly be considered as part of a motion to dismiss, either 

under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), or both. 

II. SWAP AGREEMENTS UNDER WHICH PAYMENTS ARE BASED 
UPON THE SIFMA SWAP INDEX ARE NOT “SECURITY-BASED 
SWAP AGREEMENTS”  

The Complaint alleges that the defendants violated Section 17(a) of 

the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a), and Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b) (and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by the SEC) with respect 

to the County Swap Agreements.20  Doc. 1, ¶¶ 15-17.  Generally, in order to assert 

claims under those provisions, the Complaint must allege material 

misrepresentations or omissions in the offer or sale of a security or in connection 

with the purchase or sale of a security.21   

 
 

20 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  The Complaint also asserts violations of Section 15B(c)(1) of the 
Exchange Act and Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board Rules G-17 and G-20.  The SEC, in 
its opposition brief, confirms that the Complaint does not assert a claim under Section 15B(c)(1), 
or Rules G-17 and G-20, with respect to the County Swap Agreements.  SEC Opp. Brief at 39, 
n.10. 
21 E.g., SEC v. Gane, No. 03-61553-Civ-SEITZ, 2005 WL 90154, at *11 (S.D. Fla. Jan. 4, 2005) 
(“A violation [occurs under] Section 17(a)(1), Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-
5 thereunder when there is (1) a misrepresentation or omission, (2) that was material, (3) which 
was made in the offer [or] sale [of] a security (Section 17(a)(1)) or in connection with the 
purchase or sale of securities (Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5), (4) scienter, and (5) the 
involvement of interstate commerce, the mails, or a national securities exchange. . . .  
Negligence, rather than scienter, may [be] shown to prove violations of Sections 17(a)(2) and 
(a)(3) of the Securities Act.”). 
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In 2000, Congress passed the CFMA, which made clear that a swap 

agreement22 is not a “security” under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.  

Specifically, the CFMA defined two types of swap agreements -- a “security-based 

swap agreement” and a “non-security-based swap agreement”23 -- and amended the 

Securities Act and the Exchange Act to provide that the definitions of “security” 

for purposes of those statutes do not include any security-based swap agreement or 

non-security based swap agreement.24  The CFMA amendments to the Securities 

 
 

22 The CFMA defined a “swap agreement” to mean, in pertinent part: 

[A]ny agreement . . . between eligible contract participants . . . the 
material terms of which (other than price and quantity) are subject 
to individual negotiation, and that . . . provides on an executory 
basis for the exchange, on a fixed or contingent basis, of one or 
more payments based on the value or level of one or more interest 
or other rates, currencies, commodities, securities . . . or other 
financial or economic interests . . . and that transfers, as between 
the parties to the transaction . . . the financial risk associated with a 
future change in any such value or level without also conveying a 
current or future direct or indirect ownership interest in an asset . . . 
or liability that incorporates the financial risk so transferred, 
including any such agreement . . . commonly known as an interest 
rate swap . . . . 

Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206A(a)(1)-(5), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-449-450 (codified as amended 
in scattered sections of 7 U.S.C. §1).  
23 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206B, 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206C, 
114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 2A(a), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. 
Law No. 106-554 § 2A(b)(1), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(a), 114 
Stat. 2763, 2763A-452; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(b)(1), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-452. 
24 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206B, 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206C, 
114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 2A(a), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. 
Law No. 106-554 § 2A(b)(1), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(a), 114 
Stat. 2763, 2763A-452; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(b)(1), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-452.  As a 
result of the CFMA, transactions in swap agreements as defined in the CFMA do not trigger the 
securities offering registration requirement of the Securities Act or the broker-dealer registration 
requirement of the Exchange Act. Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(b)(2), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-
452-53. 
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Act and the Exchange Act did provide that “security-based swap agreements,” 

while not securities, are nevertheless subject to the anti-fraud, anti-manipulation, 

insider trading and short-swing profit provisions of the Securities Act and the 

Exchange Act.25  In contrast, “non-security based swap agreements” are not subject 

to the anti-fraud, anti-manipulation anti-insider trading or short-swing profit 

provisions of these statutes.26  To distinguish between the two types of swap 

agreements, the statute defines a “security-based swap agreement” as an agreement 

“of which a material term is based on the price, yield, value or volatility of any 

security or any group or index of securities, or any interest therein.”27  A “non-

 
 

25 Specifically, the CFMA amended Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, and Sections 9, 10(b), 
15(c) 16, 20 and 21A of the Exchange Act to apply those provisions to security-based swap 
agreements, generally to the same extent as securities (including making judicial precedents 
under those sections applicable to security-based swap agreements).  Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 
2A(b), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-452; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(b), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-453-
54; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(d), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-454; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(e), 
114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-454-55; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(g), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-455-56; 
Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(i), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-456; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(k), 114 
Stat. 2763, 2763A-456-57.  At the same time, the CFMA prohibits the SEC from registering, or 
requiring, recommending or suggesting the registration of, security-based swap agreements, or 
imposing reporting or record-keeping requirements or other procedures or standards as 
preventative measures against fraud, manipulation or insider trading with respect to security-
based swap agreements.  See note 43, infra. 
26 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 2A(a), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 3A(a), 
114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451. 
27 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206B.  To emphasize that swap agreements are neither securities nor 
futures contracts, the definitions of “security-based swap agreement” and “non-security-based 
swap agreement” were inserted in the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, rather than in the federal 
securities or commodities laws.  Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206B, 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451; 
Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206C, 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451.  See 146 Cong. Rec. S11867 (2000) 
(statement of Senator Phil Gramm) (“It is important to emphasize that nothing in the title should 
be read to imply that swap agreements are either securities or futures contracts.  To emphasize 
that point, the definition of a ‘swap agreement’ is placed in a neutral statute, the Gramm-Leach-
Bliley Act, that is, legislation that is not specifically part of a banking, securities, or commodities 
law.”). 
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security-based swap agreement” is defined as any swap agreement that is not a 

security-based swap agreement.28

In light of the foregoing, a claim may be asserted against the 

defendants with respect to the County Swap Agreements only if the swap 

agreements meet the definition of “security-based swap agreements.”  The SEC’s 

assertion that the County Swap Agreements meet the statutory definition of a 

“security-based swap agreement” is based on the allegation that the “floating 

interest rate payments” due under the swap agreements were based on the value of 

the SIFMA Swap Index, which the Complaint alleges is an “index of securities.”  

Doc. 1, ¶16.  As discussed below, however, swap agreements under which 

payments are based on the SIFMA Swap Index are not “security-based swap 

agreements.”29  First, the SIFMA Swap Index is an index of interest rates, not an 

“index of securities.”  Second, a swap agreement under which payments are based 

on the SIFMA Swap Index is not based on “the price, yield, value or volatility of 

any security or any group or index of securities.” 

 
 

28 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206C, 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-451. 
29 In assessing the SEC’s position concerning the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, it is well-
settled that any deference to the SEC “is constrained by [the court’s] obligation to honor the clear 
meaning of [the] statute[s], as revealed by [their] language, purpose and history.”  International 
Brotherhood of Teamsters v. Daniel, 439 U.S. 551, 556 n.20 (1979).  See also, e.g., Fin. Planning 
Ass’n v. SEC, 482 F.3d 481, 487 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (rejecting the SEC’s assertion of authority, 
and holding that in “[a]pplying the traditional tools of statutory construction, the court looks to 
the text, structure, and the overall statutory scheme, as well as the problem Congress sought to 
solve.”).  “The starting point in every case involving construction of a statute is the language 
itself.”  Daniel, 439 U.S. at 558. 
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1. The SIFMA Swap Index Is Not An “Index of Securities” 

As noted, in order for a swap agreement to be subject to the anti-fraud 

provisions of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, the swap agreement must be 

a “securities-based swap agreement,” which is defined as an agreement “of which a 

material term is based on the price, yield, value or volatility of any security or any 

group or index of securities, or any interest therein.”30  Citing this definition, the 

Complaint first alleges that the SIFMA Swap Index, on which payments under the 

County Swap Agreements are based, is an “index of securities.”  Doc. 1, ¶16.  In 

its opposition brief, the SEC cites to the SIFMA website in support of the 

Complaint’s characterization of the SIFMA Swap Index as an “index of 

securities.”  Specifically, the SEC quotes the following statements on the SIFMA 

website: 

WHAT IS THE SIFMA MUNICIPAL SWAP 
INDEX? 

. . .  [The SIFMA Municipal Swap Index is] a 7-day high-
grade market index comprised of tax-exempt VRDOs 
from MMD’s extensive database. 

WHY WAS THE INDEX CREATED? 

[The SIFMA Municipal Swap Index] was created in 
response to industry participants’ demand for a short-
term index which accurately reflected activity in the 
VRDO market . . . . 

 
 

30 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206B. 
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HOW WERE THE INDEX CRITERIA SELECTED? 

. . . [SIFMA] chose specific criteria which would most 
effectively represent activity in the variable rate demand 
note market. . . . . 

SEC. Opp. Brief at 48. 

These citations, however, do not explain the nature of the “market 

activity” that is reflected in the Index and do not establish, let alone suggest, that 

the Index is an “index of securities.”  Rather, other statements not cited by the SEC 

that appear on the SIFMA website make clear that the “Index serves as a 

benchmark floating rate in [a] swap transaction,” and that the “activity” referred to 

above relates to changes in the interest rates paid on variable rate demand notes. 31  

The fact that the interest rates are interest on debt securities does not make the 

Index itself an index of securities.  To the contrary, as SIFMA’s description of the 

manner in which the Index is compiled makes clear, the Index is an index of 

interest rates, not an index of securities.     

As described above (supra at 6-10), the SIFMA Swap Index is based 

solely upon the rates derived from a broad sampling of variable rate demand notes 

so that it purely reflects market changes in those rates.  In that regard, the specific 

identities of the securities from which the interest rate information is collected by 

MMD, and the securities that are subject to being eliminated from the calculation 

of the SIFMA Swap Index, change from week to week and are known only to 

MMD.  Id.  Other terms of the variable rate demand notes -- such as their prices, 
 
 

31 SIFMA, Answering Your Questions About The Securities Industry and Financial Markets 
Association (SIFMA) Municipal Swap Index, 
http://www.sifma.org/capital_markets/swapindex.shtml (last visited July 30, 2008) (“The Index 
serves as a benchmark floating rate . . . .”) (Ex. E hereto at 1). 
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volatilities, maturities, or prepayment terms -- are not used to create the SIFMA 

Swap Index.  See supra at 10.  The only information that is relevant is the interest 

rate that is reset on the variable rate demand notes each week, which is utilized so 

that the SIFMA Swap Index will represent a composite market rate for short-term 

tax-exempt interest.32   

That the SIFMA Swap Index is an index of interest rates and not an 

index of securities is further demonstrated by the fact that issuers of floating rate 

debt securities enter into swap agreements based upon the Index to hedge against 

changes in interest rates; such swap agreements are not used to hedge against 

changes in the value of a securities portfolio.33  Indeed, the Complaint 

acknowledges that the swap agreements were used by Jefferson County to hedge 

its interest rate risk on its bonds.  For example, Paragraph 103 of the Complaint 

 
 

32 In contrast, for example, the Lehman Brothers U.S. Corporate Floating Rate Note Index is 
based on information obtained from up to 50 underlying bonds, including price, interest rate, 
maturity, issue date, prepayment terms and principal amount.  These factors are then used to 
measure the “performance” or “return” of the portfolio of bonds represented by the index. 
Lehman Brothers, U.S. Corporate Floating Rate Note Index (April 2008), 
http://www.lehman.com/fi/indices/pdf/US_Corporate_FRN_Index.pdf  (Ex. K hereto at 2). 
33 Unlike swaps relating to the SIFMA Swap Index,  swaps relating to an index of securities 
(such as the Lehman Brothers U.S. Corporate Floating Rate Note Index (see note 32, supra)) can 
be used to hedge against changes in the value of a portfolio of securities similar to the securities 
represented by that index.  To do so, the investor could enter into a swap agreement under which 
the investor agreed to exchange payments calculated with reference to the level of the index of 
securities.  For each period that the value of the index decreased, the investor would receive a 
payment based upon the decreased value of the index (that is, the depreciation in the underlying 
securities).  For each period that the value of the index increased, the investor would make a 
payment based upon the increased value of the index (that is, the appreciation in the underlying 
securities). See, e.g., Reuter’s Financial Glossary, Contract For Difference, 
http://glossary.reuters.com/index.php/Contract_for_Difference (last visited July 9, 2008) (Ex. L 
hereto); Max Hotopf, Contract for Difference, Citywire Personal Investor Edition 
http://www.citywire.co.uk/personal/investment-guides/contracts-for-difference.aspx (April 12, 
2007) (Ex. M hereto at 1). 
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characterizes one of the swap agreements as an obligation “to pay an interest 

rate… based upon the value of the BMA’s Municipal Swap Index.”  Doc. 1, ¶ 103 

(emphasis added). 

In order to accept the Complaint’s allegation that a swap agreement 

under which payment is based on the SIFMA Swap Index is a security-based swap 

agreement, the Court would need to re-write the definition of “security-based swap 

agreement” to cover interest rate swap agreements.  But the statute makes no 

reference to “an index of interest rates.”  In that regard, the much publicized 

controversy over certain derivatives activities involving Bankers Trust Co. led to 

the seminal decision of Procter & Gamble Co. v. Bankers Trust Co., 925 F. Supp. 

1270, 1277-83 (S.D. Ohio 1996), which held that the federal securities laws do not 

apply to interest rate swap agreements.  Other court decisions interpreting the 

status of interest rate swap agreements under pre-CFMA law also held that interest 

rate swap agreements are not subject to securities laws.34  In light of the pre-CFMA 

case law holding that interest rate swap agreements are not securities for purposes 

of the securities laws, if Congress intended that Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) 

apply to interest rate swap agreements, it would have expressly stated so. 

St. Matthews Baptist Church v. Wachovia Bank National Association, 

2005 WL 1199045 (D. N.J. May 18, 2005), a post-CFMA decision, is instructive.  

In that case, the plaintiff argued that because payments on the swap agreement 

were based on LIBOR, the swap agreement was a “security-based swap 
 
 

34 See Lehman Bros. Commercial Corp. v. Minmetals Int’l Non-Ferrous Metals Trading Co., 179 
F. Supp. 2d 159, 164, 167 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (interest rate swap agreements not securities for 
purposes of federal securities laws; applying pre-CFMA law); see also K3C, 204 Fed. Appx. at 
465 (holding that interest rate swaps are not securities under the Texas Securities Act). 
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agreement.”  The court rejected plaintiff’s argument, and held that because LIBOR 

is an interest rate, swap agreements under which payment is based on LIBOR do 

not fall within the definition of a “security-based swap agreement.”  2005 WL 

1199045, at *13.  The same logic applies here.  SIFMA designed the SIFMA Swap 

Index to serve as a benchmark interest rate.  See supra at 8.  The market views the 

SIFMA Swap Index as the tax-exempt equivalent of LIBOR.  Id.  Indeed, a 

common strategy in the market is to hedge variations in the rate of interest 

represented by LIBOR versus the rate represented by the SIFMA Swap Index.  An 

example of this strategy is one of the Bear Stearns swap transactions in the instant 

case.35  Because the instruments from which each of these indices derives its 

interest rate are so different (global interbank lending versus tax-exempt municipal 

debt), such a strategy would not be common if features other than the interest rates 

of the underlying instruments were relevant to the calculation of the respective 

indices.  However, because the only feature that matters to each of them is interest 

rate, the two indices are comparable.  It would, therefore, be incongruous for the 

statute to be read to consider a swap agreement under which payment is based on 

LIBOR to be a non-security based swap agreement, but to consider a swap 

agreement under which payment is based on the SIFMA Swap Index to be a 

security-based swap agreement. 

There can be no question that the SIFMA Swap Index is by definition 

and application a benchmark index of tax-exempt interest rates, the sole purpose of 
 
 

35Swap Monitoring Report, Jefferson County Alabama, available at 
http://jeffco.jccal.org/pls/portal/docs/PAGE/FINANCE_PAGE_GROUP/INVESTOR_RELATI
ONS/TAB60915/SWAP%20ASSET%20MANAGEMENT%20REPORT%20-%20013107%20-
%20LIBRARY.PDF (January 31, 2007) (Ex. N hereto at 5).  
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which is to establish an interest rate, typically in a swap agreement.  Accordingly, a 

swap agreement under which payment is based upon the SIFMA Swap Index is not 

a “security-based swap agreement,” and the Complaint’s claims based on the 

County Swap Agreements are without basis.  See Doc. 1, ¶¶ 15-17. 

2. The Material Terms of the Swaps At Issue Were Not Based 
On The “Price, Yield, Value Or Volatility” Of the SIFMA 
Swap Index 

As also noted, in order to be considered a “security-based swap 

agreement,” a material term of the swap agreement must be based on “the price, 

yield, value or volatility of any security or any group or index of securities, or any 

interest therein.”36  Citing this definition, the Complaint further alleges that the 

terms of the County Swap Agreements were based on the “value” of the SIFMA 

Swap Index, which is used “to establish the floating rate yield.”  Doc. 1, ¶16.37  

The Complaint’s allegation in this regard is inaccurate. 

As established above, the SIFMA Swap Index is solely an index of 

interest rates.  It is, therefore, incorrect for the Complaint to assert that the 

payments under the swap agreements are based on the “value” of an index of 

securities.  In fact, there is no such thing as the “value” of the SIFMA Swap Index, 

because that Index serves purely as an interest rate.  It is not an index of value, or 

even an index that captures or averages the values of underlying securities.38  

 
 

36 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 206B. 
37 The Complaint does not allege that the swaps here were based on the price or volatility of the 
SIFMA Swap Index.  In any event, for the same reasons discussed above, swap agreements 
based on the SIFMA Swap Index are not agreements based on the price or volatility of the Index. 
38 An example of an index based upon the “value” of bonds would be the Lehman Brothers U.S. 
Corporate Floating Rate Note Index.  See note 32 supra. 
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Similarly, it is incorrect to refer to the SIFMA Swap Index as representing the 

“yield” of the underlying variable rate demand notes.39  "Yield" is a function of 

several factors, only one of which is "interest rate."  Specifically, “yield” is the 

annual rate of return on a debt security, based on its purchase price, the rate at 

which interest accrues in accordance with the terms of the debt security, and the 

length of time the debt security is held.40  In contrast, the “interest rate” on a debt 

security is only the annual rate at which interest accrues in accordance with its 

terms.41  As described herein, only the interest rate on the variable rate demand 

notes is extracted to create the SIFMA Swap Index.  As such, as set forth above, 

the SIFMA Swap Index is an index of interest rates, and was created to serve, and 

does serve, solely as a benchmark floating interest rate.  See supra at 8.  The only 

feature of a variable rate demand note that has any significance for purposes of 

deriving the SIFMA Swap Index is its interest rate, and this information is obtained 

solely for purposes of creating a composite interest rate for use in the tax-exempt 

market.   See supra at 8-10.  By definition, therefore, the SIFMA Swap Index is not 

based upon the prices, yields, values or volatilities of the notes whose interest rates 

are used to create the Index.  See St. Matthews 2005 WL 1199045  at *13 

 
 

39 An example of an index based upon the “yields” of bonds would be the Dow Jones Corporate 
Bond Index.  Among the many factors relating to the underlying bonds that are necessary to 
calculate that index are price, maturity, prepayment features, principal amount, date of issuance 
and interest rate. See Dow Jones Indexes, Corporate Bond Index FAQ, 
http://www.djindexes.com/mdsidx/index.cfm?event=showCorpBondFaq (last visited July 30, 
2008) (Ex. O hereto at 1).  Other than interest rate, none of these factors is used to calculate the 
SIFMA Swap Index.  
40 See, e.g., Municipal Securities Rule Making Board, Glossary of Municipal Securities Terms, 
http://www.msrb.org/msrb1/glossary/ (last visited August 1, 2008)  (Ex. P hereto at 2). 
41 Id. at 3. 
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(“LIBOR, as its title indicates, is an interest rate, and is therefore not an index 

based on the ‘price, yield, value or volatility of any security or any group [or] 

index of securities.’”). 

In sum, in addition to the fact that it does not constitute an “index of 

securities” (see supra at 18-23), the SIFMA Swap Index does not reflect or 

represent the composite changes in the prices, yields, market values or volatilities 

of the bonds whose interest rates are used in the Index.  Therefore, because a swap 

agreement under which payments are based on the SIFMA Swap Index are not 

based on “the price, yield, value or volatility of any security or any group or index 

of securities, or any interest therein,” such a swap agreement does not fall within 

the statutory definition of a “security-based swap agreement.”  Accordingly, there 

is no merit to the claims in the Complaint that are based on the County Swap 

Agreements.  See Doc. 1, ¶¶ 15-17. 

III. THE COMPLAINT CANNOT STATE A CLAIM FOR VIOLATIONS 
OF SECTION 17(a) OR SECTION 10(b) BASED ON THE THEORY 
THAT THE SWAP AGREEMENTS WERE ENTERED INTO 
“SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH” SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS  

Paragraph 18 of the Complaint alleges that the defendants violated 

Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) with respect to two of the County Swap 

Agreements – that is, the 2003-B and 2003-C swap agreements – because “the 

County negotiated, executed and entered into these two swap agreements 

simultaneously with the 2003-B and 2003-C bonds, respectively.”  Doc. 1, at ¶ 18.  

On this basis, the Complaint asserts claims with respect to swap agreements that 

are “non-security based swap agreements.”  For the reasons explained below, there 
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is no basis for the Complaint’s claims under this theory with respect to those two 

County Swap Agreements. 

A cardinal rule of statutory construction is that “[w]hen a statute 

limits a thing to be done in a particular mode, it includes the negative of any other 

mode.”  Transamerica Mortgage Advisors, Inc. v. Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, 19-20 

(1979) (“[I]t is an elemental canon of statutory construction that where a statute 

expressly provides a particular remedy or remedies, a court must be chary of 

reading others into it.”); United States v. Kinard, 472 F.3d 1294, 1298 (11th Cir. 

2006) (“Using the principle of expressio unius est exclusio alterius as an aid to our 

construction of the enhancement, we conclude that the application of the 

enhancement is limited to offenses that involve violations of the four enumerated 

statutes . . . .”) (internal citations omitted).  Application of this principle in this 

case demonstrates that the Complaint’s claims with respect to non-security based 

swap agreements are untenable. 

As discussed above, the CFMA clarified that swap agreements are not 

“securities” for purposes of the federal securities laws.  See supra at 15-16.  

Moreover, only security-based swap agreements -- and not non-security based 

swap agreements -- are subject to SEC antifraud, anti-manipulation and insider-

trading enforcement authority.42  In that regard, even as to security-based swap 

agreements, the SEC is expressly prohibited from issuing any rules imposing 

reporting or recordkeeping requirements, procedures or standards as measures 

 
 

42 See Pub. Law No. 106-554 §§ 302(b), 303 (b) to (1) 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-452-56. See also 
Guy-P. Lander, 14 U.S. Securities Law for International Financial Transactions and Capital 
Markets § 1:32 at 1-79, 1-83-84 (2007 Thomson/West) (Ex. Q hereto). 
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against fraud, manipulation, or insider trading.43  Given the express – and limited – 

authority granted by the CFMA over security-based swap agreements, the Court 

should not read into the CFMA any enforcement authority by the SEC over non-

security based swap agreements.  Nothing in the CFMA supports the contention 

that entering into a non-security swap agreement “simultaneously with” a 

securities transaction (such as a purchase or sale of bonds) gives the SEC an 

independent basis for an enforcement action with respect to the non-security swap 

agreement.  Indeed, this theory is completely at odds with the purpose and 

structure of the CFMA.44   

In light of the plain statutory language -- which makes clear that 

Congress carefully limited the SEC’s anti-fraud enforcement authority to security-

based swap agreements -- it is implausible that the Complaint could assert claims 

under the anti-fraud provisions of the securities laws with respect to non-security 

based swap agreements solely by virtue of the fact that they were entered into 
 
 

43 Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 2A(b)(3), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-452; Pub. Law No. 106-554 § 
3A(b)(3), 114 Stat. 2763, 2763A-453.  
44 Significantly, since well before the CFMA’s enactment, it has been common for swap 
agreements to be entered into simultaneously with securities offerings.  For example, interest rate 
swaps are used with municipal bond offerings and other debt offerings; cross-currency swap 
agreements are used in connection with cross-border financings; and securitizations use interest 
swap agreements, caps and floors, to name a few. See, e.g., Proposed Statement of the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board: Plain Language Supplemental, Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board of the Financial Accounting Foundations, 
http://www.nabl.org/AM/Template.cfm?section=Gen_Municipal_Bond_Material&template=/Me
mbersOnly.cfm&ContentID=7140&q=%22interest%20rate%20swap%22 (June 29, 2007) (Ex. R            
hereto at 2-3); Brian O’Keefe, Hedging Considerations in CDO Transactions, Financial Services 
Industry, http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_m0MTK/is_1-4_5/ai_n25060165 (last visited July 
30, 2008) (Ex. C hereto at 2).  Despite these known transaction patterns, the CFMA clearly 
distinguished between security-based and non-security based swap agreements, and did not 
include in the definition of the former swap agreements that are entered into “simultaneously 
with” or as “part of” a securities offering. 
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“simultaneously with” a securities transaction.  Such an amorphous and expansive 

theory would effectively eviscerate the careful and deliberate distinction that 

Congress drew between security-based swap agreements and non-security based 

swap agreements when it clarified that only the former are subject to the SEC’s 

anti-fraud enforcement authority.   

Given the clarity of the CFMA’s purpose in strictly limiting the SEC’s 

enforcement authority with respect to security-based swap agreements, it is not 

surprising that an SEC administrative law judge recently rejected the alternative 

theory that is alleged in the Complaint.  See In re Snell and LeCroy, No. 3-12359, 

2007 WL 1297008, *32-33 (S.E.C. May 3, 2007) (“I agree with Respondents that, 

while an issuer might enter into a swap transaction or a swaption at the same time 

as it enters a bond offering, the contemporaneous nature of the two transactions 

does not make them a single financial instrument with a bond component.”). 

SIFMA is aware of no case law, statute or authority that supports the alternative 

theory alleged by the SEC in the instant action. 

The expansive nature of the Complaint’s claims based on non-security 

based swap agreements is made clear when it is contrasted with the SEC’s 

appropriate invocation of Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) with respect to the five 

bond offerings and the alleged fraudulent conduct in connection with them.  See 

Doc. 1, ¶ 14.  Under a well-established line of authority, fraudulent conduct that 

takes place “in connection with” the purchase or sale of securities is prohibited 

under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.  See, e.g., SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 

820-25 (2002).  Thus, assuming that the SEC can meet the “in connection with” 

standard, and establish that the alleged conduct was part of a fraudulent scheme 
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that took place in connection with the bond offerings, the SEC has ample statutory 

authority to seek redress under Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) with respect to all 

of the alleged wrongdoing.45  Indeed, the SEC admits this point in its brief.  

SEC Br. at 2-3. 

Because the SEC has asserted claims based on alleged fraudulent 

conduct involving instruments that indisputably are “securities,” the Court should 

reject the SEC’s erroneous attempt to assert claims involving non-security based 

swap agreements. 

 
 

45 Of course, it is the manipulative or deceptive practice that must be “in connection with” the 
purchase or sale of a security.  See Zandford, 535 U.S. at 820, 822-23 (holding that the “in 
connection with” standard was met where the sale of securities was made to further the 
fraudulent scheme, and thus “the scheme to defraud and the sale of securities coincide[d]”).  That 
is, it is not enough for the SEC to simply assert, as it does in Paragraph 18 of the Complaint, that 
a swap agreement coincides with a purchase or sale of a bond.  Rather, the SEC needs to show 
that fraudulent conduct, which may happen to involve swap agreements, took place “in 
connection with” the bond offerings in order for such conduct to fall within the scope of 
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.  Id.
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, amicus curiae SIFMA respectfully requests 

that the Court dismiss the claims alleged in the Complaint with respect to the 

County Swap Agreements. 

Dated: Birmingham, Alabama 
August 7, 2008 

/s/ Crawford S. McGivaren, Jr.   
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